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1962 opened auspiciously for the Victorian Railways. On January 3, when
industry was virtually at a standstill in the customary Christmas—New Year
close-down, hundreds of men of commerce gathered in a brand-new section of
the mighty rail freight terminal at Dynon. There was an air of expectancy;
never before had so many newspaper and radio reporters, Press and television
photographers, gathered for a railway event. Bright sunshine made more bril-
liant the fluttering flags, and a large white banner, with its significant message
“It’s Thru'!” in bold red letters, stretched across one of the railway tracks.

The track itself was new—both in construction and gauge. It was only 4’
84" wide compared with the usual 3’ 3" of Victoria’s railway system; it was part
of the multi-million standard gauge line to link Melbourne that day direct by
rail to Sydney and Brisbane.

““ A dream come true ”, the Chairman of the Railways Commissioners (Mr. E.
H. Brownbill) told the representative gathering as the first freight train pulled in.

Three months later, Melbourne welcomed the Governor-General (Viscount
De L’Isle) when he arrived from Sydney in the new stainless-steel ““ Southern
Aurora”’. The missing link in luxury intercapital travel had been forged.

Before the year’s end, two more platforms were being built at the scene of
the January 3 celebrations—so great was the growth of interstate rail traffic.

Passenger traffic between states, too, surged up during the year. The rail-
ways specialities—the long hauls, the mass movement—were coming into their
own. 1962 started a new era for Victorian Railways—the rail way was being
increasingly recognized as modern, efficient.

No more appropriate year could there be than this to tell the story of the Vic-
torian Government Railways.

Railroading is a strange business, its complexities made more difficult by
political pressures and dependence on an annual grant by the government of the
day for additions and improvements, which permitted of no sure long range
planning and commitments for consequent economies.

Painstakingly researched and compiled over many years by Mr. Leo J. Har-
rigan, with the help of officers of the Public Library and encouragement by
a number of railway enthusiasts, this history is as accurate as it is possible to de-
termine from the records and contemporary writings available.

Mr. Harrigan was born at Williamstown, cradle of the Victorian Railways.
With his grandfather, father, brothers and uncles all railwaymen, he joined the
Railways in December, 1914, as a junior clerk. Even at this early age he had a
keen personal interest in general history; this interest narrowed to Australian,
and finally Victorian history. In 1930, he turned to Australian railway history,
with the accent on his own Department.

The story of the Victorian Railways is partly the story of Victoria itself.
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The history of Victoria as a political community began when the Hentys made
the first permanent settlement at Portland in 1834. John Batman on June 8,
1835, marked as *“ the place for a village ”, the site of Melbourne, followed im-
mediately by John Pascoe Fawkner’s party, who established a settlement on the
spot. Within the next year the pastoral, or * squatter,” era commenced with the
influx of the Port Phillip Association and others.

In Sydney, the Government regarded all these persons as trespassers; but the
settlers ignored official warnings and remained in possession. As the result
of favourable reports on the character and conduct of the settlers, Governor
Sir Richard Bourke visited Port Phillip in March, 1837; satisfied with local
conditions, he officially established Melbourne and William’s Town. Subse-
quently, the “ Port Phillip District of New South Wales ”’ was declared, com-
prising the area south of the Dividing Range in the vicinity of Port Phillip Bay.

By 1842, the District population totalled 23,000; 14 million sheep and cattle
were at pasture; a Town Council for Melbourne was elected; post offices were
in operation at Melbourne, Geelong and Portland. The Port Phillipians, still
under Sydney administration, agitated for a local authority, but their ambition
was not achieved till 1850, when the British Parliament granted separation from
New South Wales and established the Colony of Victoria as from July 1, 1851,
with self-Government. Charles Joseph La Trobe (Superintendent of the Dis-
trict) was appointed Lieutenant-Governor, and a Legislative Council elected,
meeting for the first time on November 11, 1851, at Melbourne.



However, before the election of the new legislative authority, the public dis-
covery of gold in July, 1851, caused great excitement, and within a few months
a quiet pastoral community was submerged by an inrush of gold seekers and
adventurers. In hundreds, in thousands, artisans, labourers, scholars, mer-
chants, shepherds, sailors, staid officials of government service, police, ticket-
of-leavers from Van Diemen’s Land, Britishers, Europeans, Americans, Asians,
— the best and the worst — passed through Melbourne to the ElI Dorados
of Ballarat and Bendigo.

During 1852, 94,000 persons arrived by sea; for week after week more than
100 ships, many deserted by their crews, lay at anchor in Hobson’s Bay.

Traffic to the goldfields was chaotic on unmade tracks which were quagmires
in wet weather. Food at the mining centres was scarce and at famine prices;
as many fortunes were made by shrewd retailers of commodities as by gold dig-
gers. Disappointed and disillusioned, miners struggled back to Melbourne,
adding to the overcrowding of that city, to which immigrants were still flocking
in 1853-54 at the rate of more than 1,000 a week.

The Government, new to responsibility and caught in a state of affairs probably
unequalled anywhere, floundered in bewilderment in attempts to attack the
problem of creating order.

Roads were planned and their construction expedited; proposals for railways
were formulated in 1852 by groups of investors whose extravagant optimism
was a sympton of the time. Money seemed to be available in unlimited supply;
the plans and estimates of the promoters of railway schemes were as unsound
as the promises made to coax subscriptions for the projects. But, despite the
need and the urgency for railway communication, it soon became apparent that
the private resources of the Colony were not sufficient to meet the expenditure
required in building railways of any magnitude. Failure and financial loss,
early or ultimate, was, with one exception, the lot of private railway ventures
in Victoria.

Though generous support was given to the private syndicates by the Govern-
ment, some members of the Legislature believed that it was the responsibility
of the Government to build railways. The collapse of the Melbourne, Mt.
Alexander and Murray River Railway Company, that had been given a virtual
monopoly to build ratlways anywhere in the Colony, was primarily responsible
for the establishment of the Victorian Railways Department, the history of which,
over the past century, portrays a record of service to the community not to be
measured in terms of profit or loss on operations.
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CHAPTER ONE

Robert Hoddle

RAILWAYS IN VICTORIA APPROVED

Early proposals ; The need becomes urgent ; Companies formed ;' Government policy

* Map, P.3

First proposed railway for Victoria was as early as March, 1839, when Robert
Hoddle, Government Surveyor at Port Phillip, marked out a town site at The
Beach (Port Melbourne) and planned a line from Melbourne.* Exactly seven
years later, residents of Geelong discussed a scheme to construct a line to the
vicinity of Portland and Hamilton. Desultory talks on the possibilities of rail-
ways from Melbourne to The Beach and to Geelong arose during 1850,
but the propositions were merely wishful thinking.

On September 7, 1851, at a public meeting in the Mechanics’ Institution
(now the Melbourne Athenaeum) a plan was submitted to build a railway from
Sandridge — as The Beach was then known — to the city.  The line, 1 mile
63 chains long, was to be worked by two 16 h.p. engines with one lst-class and
two 2nd-class carriages, and 12 wagons; the whole cost, £60,000. The pro-
posal, however, lapsed.

As was the case earlier in England, considerable opposition to railway projects
was offered in Victoria. Objections were based on the damage that was thought
might occur to property when a railway line went through. Also, interested
opinion favoured canals as a means of improving transport from Hobson’s Bay
to the city. The construction of a sea wall, along which goods vehicles could
travel across Hobson’s Bay to Williamstown, was a suggestion that gained support
and received some careful planning.

The combination of extravagant financial prosperity and chaotic transport
conditions that followed the gold rush forced the community to realize the urgent
need for railway communication. By 1852, the carriage of merchandise in
horse drays and bullock wagons was outmoded ; the pastoral somnolence of
the Colony was interrupted, never to recur, and a ‘‘ railway boom > set in,

Every possible encouragement was given by the government to railway pro-
jects, as the authorities were fully aware of the benefits the young colony would
gain from railways. Government construction and ownership, however, was
not then contemplated or even considered nec/eésary.



Concessions offered were liberal. At first, a grant of land 100 yards wide along
the whole length of line was contemplated — it was later reduced — with ample
space at terminal and intermediate locations for station buildings; financial aid for
preliminary surveys and guaranteed interest payments on investments were other
concessions. Authority to build a private railway was obtained by the syndicate
submitting an application to the Legislature for a Bill of Incorporation. The
application, if approved, was referred to a Select Committee to examine the pro-
posal : if considered satisfactory, the Bill then proceeded through the necessary
stages for the passing of an Act incorporating the company.

The Act contained stringent conditions and severe penalties for regulating
the conduct of the company and the working of the railway, specifying among
other things that the line had to be completed within two years of the passing
of the Act. Failure incurred liability to a penalty of £5,000 plus £20 for each
day beyond two years the line remained uncompleted. Also, the Government
took power to purchase the line at any time after 10 years, at a fixed valuation.

During 1852 and 1853, eight separate and distinct private railway ventures
were submitted to the people of Victoria for financial backing. Grandiloquent
statements as to the ease and economy with which the projects could be completed
and the extravagent promises of opulent dividends — anticipated at a minimum
of 20 per cent — were features of the prospectuses issued to entice investors, by
the various groups of promoters, many of whom were associated with each scheme.

Plans for railways were prepared by inexperienced engineers, on inadequate
surveys of the areas to be traversed, and without sufficient knowledge of local
economics. But the Colony was not yet equipped, financially or industrially,
for the tasks, despite the meteoric inflation of wealth from the newly discovered
goldfields.

Frantic appeals by the syndicates for subscriptions to capital funds were,
in the main, unavailing, and the proposals lapsed soon after their propagation.

Of the eight companies promoted, three gained Government approval to build

railways :
The Melbourne and Hobson’s Bay Railway January 20, 1853
The Geelong and Melbourne Railway February 8, 1853
The Melbourne, Mount Alexander and Murray River Railway February 8, 1853

Another—the Melbourne, St. Kilda and Brighton Junction Railway—was dis-
banded in 1853, but reformed in later years as the St. Kilda and Brighton Rail-
way.

The four that failed completely were:

The Melbourne and William’s Town Railway
The Geelong and Melbourne, Mount Alexander and Murray River Railway
The North Melbourne Railway
The Geelong, Ballaarat and North Western Railway
Promoted in May, 1852, to build a line approximately nine miles long, con-
necting Melbourne with shipping at Williamstown, the Melbourne and William’s
Town Railway Co. planned a route parallel with the west bank of the River Yarra,

right : First planned line, 1839
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above : “Canvas Town'' in |854, housed immigrants
arriving at the rate of 1,000 a week

left ; On the way to the *‘Diggings "

below : Melbourne from the south side
of the Yarra, 1839
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with warehouses at both terminals. Wharves at Williamstown were to be
built in conjunction with the railway. The whole work would be financed on
a capital fund of £50,000. The proposition received very little support, and
other than some preliminary superficial survey work, no further action was
taken by the promoters, and the company dissolved.

In June, 1852, the Geelong and Melbourne, Mount Alexander and Murray
River Railway Co. announced its intention to apply to the Government for
permission to build a railway from Geelong to Melbourne, continuing to Mount
Alexander (between Castlemaine and Harcourt) and the River Murray either
by a direct line from Melbourne or by joining the Melbourne, Mount Alex-
ander and Murray River Railway Ce.’s system™ at some convenient point to be
decided upon.

Such a scheme, traversing more than 200 miles, was apparently too dazzling
even for the promoters. Other than a repetition of advertisements notifying
the intention to seek Government approval, nothing further was learned of the
proposal. No estimates of cost were given, and within one month, the company
went into complete obscurity. There is no doubt that the Geelong to Melbourne
portion of the plan was adopted by the Geelong and Melbourne Railway Co.*
which arose in August, 1852, '

The North Melbourne Railway Co. set out in June, 1853, to obtain £60,000
to construct a “ cheap line of railway”, to be worked by horses, from Melbourne
to the penal stockade at Pentridge, five miles distant. The purpose was to carry
stone from the quarries in the areas immediately north of the city. A great
and increasing demand for stone for buildings and road-making had arisen,
and the existing mode of transport by horse-drays was considered to be inad-
equate. '

From Russell Street, at the rear of the Melbourne (now the Queen Victoria)
Hospital, the line was planned to proceed between Lygon and Drummond Streets,
Carlton, to the terminus at Pentridge on the east side of Sydney Road, with bran-
ches to the several quarries along the route, and also to the gaol enclosures at
Melbourne and Pentridge for speedier delivery and removal of stone broken
up by prisoners for road-making.

A Bill to authorize the construction of the railway was brought into the Leg-
islative Council in September, 1853, but was withdrawn almost at once. Lack
of financial support brought about the rapid dissolution of the company, the
promoters of which turned to other railway projects for investment of their
funds.

The Geelong, Ballaarat and North Western Railway Co.-yet another group with
an imposing plan and insufficient backing—first proposed in 1853 the construct-
ion of a railway 300 miles long from Geelong to Ballarat and Castle Donnington
(Swan Hill) on the River Murray. A capital fund of £1,000,000, estimated in an
extremely casual manner, was considered sufficient for the project. Despite
recurring financial problems of other railway syndicates, the promoters applied
for Government approval, but the request was rejected by the Legislative Coun-



cil on March 16, 1855. Five years later, the Government paid £3,586 to the
sponsors of the railway as compensation for preliminary survey expenses.

Two other schemes advanced were:

A London Syndicate, The Melbourne Dock and Railway Co., claiming to
have resources up to £1,000,000, made energetic but unsuccessful efforts in 1853
to amalgamate with local enterprises for building canals and docks as auxiliaries
to railways.

A nebulous idea of connecting Portland and its shipping trade with the west-
ern area of the Colony arose in 1856 with a plan to construct a railway or tram-
way from that town to The Grange (Hamilton), on a route about 55 miles long,
with possible extensions to the Wannon and Wimmera Rivers. Other than
a report that the work of constructing the tramway was inaugurated by the cutting
of the first turf on March 31, 1857, no further information appears to be available
concerning the proposal, although in the early “‘seventies”, plans to carry out
the project were revived from time to time, but were not proceeded with.
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Melbourne from the Domain, 1856

CHAPTER TWO
THE GOVERNMENT STEPS IN

Melbourne, Mount Alexander and Murray River Railway Co. fails ; Difficulties of Government
planning : Proposals by Government Committees for establishment of new lines ; Government takes
over Mt. Alexander Co.; Government survey and decision to build country lines ; Establishment of
Cobb & Co. coach lines as feeders.

Of the three authorized railway companies, the Melbourne, Mount Alexander
and Murray River Railway was the first to fail.

Colloquially known as The Mount Alexander Co., the syndicate was promul-
gated in June, 1852, to build a main line of railway from Melbourne to Mount
Alexander and the River Murray at Echuca, and a branch line to Williamstown.
Capital was fixed at £750,000, but was later increased to £1,000,000.

Negotiations with the Government obtained for the company the following
concessions :

a Treasury grant of £5,000 to cover expenses of preliminary surveys; 50 acres of land at

Batman’s Hill (Spencer Street) for a general railway terminus ; 30 acres at Williamstown ; and a
strip of land 100 yards wide for the whole length of the railway.

Over the period 1853 to 1855 it is ciear from a review of the actions of the
Legislative Council that the authorities were continually made aware of the
inability of private companies to construct railways of any magnitude.

For Victoria these years had been ones of unparalleled growth. The popu-
lation had quadrupled to 364,000 ; gold production for 1855 totalled more
than £ 11,000,000, while public revenue produced £ 2,700,000 against an
expenditure of only £2,600,000. _

Despite the Colony’s prosperity, the Government hesitated to incur a loan
liability to the extent of several million pounds for railways. In addition, the de-
mand of other urgent public works had to be met. British capital was the
only source of colonial borrowing, and prospects of support from London
were not favourable.



*Chap 7, p. 38
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Changing political conditions in the Colony prevented the development of
cohesive planning. Further, opposition to Government ownership of railways
came from the railway companies, many of their principal shareholders being
members of the Legislative Council.

In January, 1853, the council allotted £ 30,000 to provide direct communi-
cation between Melbourne and Hobson’s Bay as a public work if no action for the
purpose was taken by private enterprise. However, the Melbourne and Hob-
son’s Bay Railway Co.,* authorized in the same month, covered this plan.

Later in the year, the council considered a standard rail gauge following
the extraordinary and vacillating conduct of the New South Wales Government
in finally reverting to the 4’ 81" measurement without reference to the other
colonies. Victoria, already committed to 5 3,” fixed this dimension as
standard.*

During a debate in the council on November 18, 1853, relating to an amend-
ment of the Melbourne, Mount Alexander and Murray River Railway Co.’s Act
of Incorporation, the then Auditor-General (Hugh Culling Eardley Childers)
expressed regret that Victoria had not adopted Lord Grey’s principle, announced
in 1846, that Governments in British. territories should build the railways and
finance the cost of construction by the sale of lands adjacent to the lines. Mr.
(later Sir) John O’Shanassy, member for Melbourne Province, supported
Childers and recommended that the Government should dissolve the Mount
Alexander Co. and undertake the construction of lines to the country districts.

Arising from these comments and the company’s inability to raise sufficient
funds to commence construction, the Government, in March, 1854, opened
negotiations to purchase its rights.

Agreement on price could not be reached at that stage. On April 10, 1854,
the Legislative Council adopted a resolution submitted by O’Shanassy *‘ that in
the interests of Victoria it was desirable that the Government be empowered to
purchase the rights and title of the Mount Alexander Railway Co. with a view to
carrying out the undertaking”.

Two months later, a commission composed of Mr. (later Sir) Francis Murphy,
M.L.C., Captain Archibald Ross and Captain Charles Pasley, both of the Royal
Engineers, commenced inquiries as to the best means of communication to the
country areas of the Colony. The commission’s report, presented on September
26, 1854, recommended that :

action be taken to remove any restrictions which would prevent the Government from constructing
railways ;

surveys and estimates of cost be made for lines leading from Melbourne to Bendigo, from Geelong
to Ballarat, and from Melbourne in the direction of Sydney (a railway from Geelong to Melbourne was
then in course of construction by the Geelong and Melbourne Railway Co.) ;

the works be planned for double tracks, but for a start, a single track line to Bendigo only to be built;

it was impossible for private enterprise to undertake the proposals, and that major works could only
be carried out by the Government.



Sir John O’Shanassy

Sir Charles Hotham

Captain Andrew Clarke

G. C. Darbyshire



The committee examined the possibilities of tramways worked by either
horses or locomotive engines, but rejected the system as unsuitable to the country.
It was learned also that the carriage of goods to the interior by road cost be-
tween £2,000,000 and /3,000,000 annually, contributing largely to the famine
prices charged for commodities on the goldfields.

This was the background to the efforts of the Mount Alexander Co. to con-
struct a railway. Authority to commence work had been granted by Act of the
Legislative Council on February 8, 1853, but a whole year passed with no
further action than discussions on how to raise finance. A contract for building
a pier was let in January, 1854; then, spurred on by insistent subscribers and
Government threats, the directors organized a vast celebration for the ofhcial
inauguration of the railway at Williamstown on June 12, 1854.

A lengthy procession traversed the streets of that town to a place near the
time ball, which stood at the end of the present oil wharf ; here the cavalcade
halted so that the Acting Lieutenant-Governor (the Honourable John Léslie Vesey
Fitzgerald Foster) could cut the first turf of the new line. A contemporary re-
port of the event records that ‘“ His Excellency went to work in good earnest,
dug the ground, shovelled a load into a barrow, and trundled it merrily to the
dumping point and back ; in fact, he seemed to have done quite as much work
as he cared to do at one time.”

To the accompaniment of music from the band of the 40th Regiment, lavish

~ refreshments were served on board ‘‘ Antelope” (flagship for the occasion)

and other vessels at anchor in Hobson’s Bay. In a pleasant glow of well-being
induced by a copious flow of champagne and an abundance of rich fare, laudatory
speeches were a feature of the occasion. A regatta on Hobson’s Bay during the
afternoon added to the gaiety of the event, and the guests returned to the shore,
all happy and replete—except for the bandsmen of the 40th Regiment, whose
needs were forgotten in the excitement of the day. A grand ball at night com-
pleted the celebrations, which cost the Mount Alexander Co. £1,149.4.7.

Construction of the line from Melbourne to Williamstown commenced at both
ends, but progress was very slow due to inadequate funds. The impossibility of
continuing with the work forced itself on the company, and negotiations for
selling the undertaking to the Government resulted in disposal at a valuation
of £68,102 plus £56,983 liabilities on work in hand. This was ratified by
Act of the Legislative Council on March 19, 1836, and the project placed under
the management of Government trustees, with authority to complete it. In this
manner, without any further waste of public funds, the Victorian Railways De-
partment came into being.

Many members of the Legislature were financially interested in the various rail-
way undertakings, with the result that self interest was an important factor when
the question arose as to whether railways should be privately or state operated.

In March, 1855, Sir Charles Hotham, Lieutenant-Governor, submitted the
following principles to the Legislative Council for devising a system by which
the Government might undertake the construction of railways :



ony scheme proposed must provide for the eventual liquidation of loans, presumably within 21

years ; only lines to be built that had prospects of paying working expenses and defraying interest

charges; that the routes selected would meet the probable future requirements of the Colony as well

as the immediate wants, and only single track lines to be built at first ;

on completion of each section, the lines to be leased by tender for a term of years ;

loans to be repaid by the sale of lands adjacent to the lines and an interest fund of £300,000 yearly

to be established until the lines became productive ;

loans and tenders for constructing railways to be invited from London not earlier than January, 1856.

The council at once elected a Railway Committee to examine the Lieutenant-

Governor’s proposals.  Reporting on May 21, 1855, the committee recommended
that :

main railways in Yictoria should be controlled by the Government ;
the most desirable routes would be direct lines from Melbourne to Castlemaine, later extended to
the River Murray, and from Geelong to Ballarat, with subsequent extension westward.

Resulting from the report, the Surveyor-General (Captain Andrew Clarke,
R.E.) was authorized to make surveys from which 200 route miles of railway
might be selected. Sixteen parties, under the direction of George Christian
Darbyshire, District Surveyor at Williamstown, examined the central portion
of the Colony and, by the end of 1835, had surveyed 600 miles covering lines
from Melbourne to Sandhurst and Echuca; Geelong to Ballarat, Melbourne to
Ballarat, Ballarat to Maryborough and Castlemaine, all with deviations and
alternative routes, and cross-country connexions from one line to another. A
line from Melbourne to beyond Seymour was also marked out.

Another Railway Committee was elected from the Legislative Councillors in
January, 1856, to examine the surveys. From these, the committee selected
the routes :

MELBOURNE to CASTLEMAINE, SANDHURST and ECHUCA ;
GEELONG to BALLARAT ;

MELBOURNE to BALLARAT, and
BALLARAT to CASTLEMAINE.

The total 309 miles was estimated to cost /14,250,000 for double track lines,
or £12,235000 for single track.

On March 19, 1856, the committee finally recommended that the Govern-
ment be empowered to raise funds for the simultaneous construction of lines
from Melbourne to Echuca and Geelong to Ballarat ; and that the building
and working of these railways should be invested in a commission appointed by
the Legislature.

The committee also advocated that, during the coming recess between the
dissolution of the Legislative Council and the opening of the first Parliament
(that is, from March 20 to November 21, 1856) the Government should have
all essential details and decisions ready for the new Legislature to grant the
necessary authority for carrying on the work.

Earlier, on March 13, the committee had recommended the purchase of the
Mount Alexander Co., and urged that the Melbourne to Williamstown portion
of the company’s scheme be constructed at once as it would form the basis
from which main lines to the country could commence.



The final decision of the Government in 1837 to built trunk lines was in-
fluenced not only by the failure of private enterprise to undertake the con-
struction of railways, but by the desire of a section of the Legislature that
railways should be built and owned by the State.

Possibly due to the failures and slow progress of the syndicates in establishing
country railways, but more probably because of his knowledge on American
conditions, Freeman Wills Cobb in 1854 commenced the famous Cobb & Co.’s
coach lines which spread throughout Victoria as settlement grew. When the
trunk railways were built, the coaches supplied a type of feeder service, the
usefulness of which declined to extinction as the iron way gradually covered the

Colony.

Hobson’s Bay from Williamstown, about 1854, showing, at right, the Time-ball Tower and beginning
of Breakwater Pier.



Peter Lalor

CHAPTER THREE

THE VICTORIAN RAILWAYS DEPARTMENT ESTABLISHED

Purchase of Melbourne, Mount Alexander and Murray River Railway Co.; Railways Department
created ; First staff ; Tenders for railway plant ; Construction of Williamstown line

The Victorian Railways Department was created in one of the last items of
business of the Legislative Council. It was Act 19 Vic. No. 15, passed on March
19, 1856, authorizing the purchase by the Government of the Melbourne,
Mount Alexander, and Murray River Railway Co.’s property and interests, and
giving power for the Government to purchase railways at any time thereafter.

The council was dissolved the next day, to be replaced by the bi-cameral
system (Upper and Lower Houses) adopted under the new constitution for
responsible government in Victoria. The Colony’s first Parliament assembled
on November 21, 1856, at Melbourne.

In accordance with the terms of the Act of Purchase, the Commissioner of
Public Works (Captain Charles Pasley) and the Surveyor-General (Captain
Andrew Clarke) were appointed Trustees of the Melbourne, Mount Alexander
and Murray River Railway. An examination of the company’s works and
finances was made by Messrs. G. C. Darbyshire, District Surveyor at Williams-
town, and A. Galt, an accountant. On their report, a contract of sale was
completed on May 23, 1856. Included among the property taken over from the
company was one frying pan.

During 1855, extensive surveys for proposed Government railways were
made by the Surveyor-General’s Department in which, nominally, all railway
matters were vested. As from April 1, 1856, management of the new Railway
Department was transferred to the Commissioner of Public Works, with head-
quarters at the Assay Office in La Trobe Street, Melbourne. The respective
Ministers, however, retained equal status as Trustees of the Mount Alexander
Railway.



The first staff appointments to the Department were made on May 1, 1856.
G. C. Darbyshire was chosen for the position of Engineer-in-Chief, located in
the Mount Alexander Co.’s offices at Batman’s Hill, Spencer Street. Darby-
shire entered the Government service on August 12, 1833, in the Surveyor-
General’s Department. The original members of his railway staff were re-
cruited from that Department, having been selected to carry out the railway
surveys in 1855. James Ryan, the office messenger, had been a sergeant in the
40th Regiment.

Richard Woolley, selected as first Secretary of the Railway Department, had
been Secretary of the Melbourne Chamber of Commerce. He took up duty
at the Assay Office, La Trobe Street.

An appointment of interest was that of the Hon. Peter Lalor, M.L.C., C.E,,
as Inspector of Works. Lalor was the leader of the miners’ rebellion at Eureka
Stockade, Ballarat, on December 3, 1854, where he was severely wounded,
losing his left arm as a result. A Government reward of ,{;200 for his appre-
hension remained uncliimed. He was acquitted in absentia in March, 1855,
of a charge of treason. In November, 1855, he was elected to the Legislative
Council as member for Ballarat ; twelve months later he entered Victoria’s
first Parliament as representative for Grenville North. He held the office of
Speaker in the Legislative Assembly from 1880 to 1887.

First appointments to the Railway Department staff were :

ENGINEER-IN-CHIEF'S DIVISION

George Christian Darbyshire Engineer-in-Chief 1/5/1856

Robert Watson Assistant Engineer -
and Surveyor

William Austin Zeal . ” b

William Bennett Hull 2 ”
William Henry Greene ” »
W. F. Hardie ” ”
Frederick Collier Christy Draftsman "
Robert Adams " ”
W. E. Bryson " ”
A. A. Jackson . » ”
Samuel V. Kent ” »
James Ryan Messenger 1/8/1856
Mary Ryan Housekeeper "
George H. Watson Engineer and Surveyor 2/10/1856
J. Thorneloe Smith i »
Peter Lalor Inspector of Works "

SECRETARY'S OFFICE

Richard Woolley Secretary 1/5/1856
Archibald Dick Accountant 12/7/1856
Henry St. John jowers Clerk 1/8/1856
Charles Curr » 1/9/1856

Immediately after the formation of the Railway Department, the Trustees
began preparations for the completion of the Melbourne to Williamstown line.
The Mount Alexander Co.’s efforts had been confined to local works only on a
limited scale ; consequently, the Department was confronted with a protracted
delay by having to set up plans and specifications and place orders in England
for rolling stock, bridges, rails and other materials.






On May 3, 1856, the Victorian Railways issued its first call for tenders. Local
agencies were requested to submit proposals for the importation of railway
material on a commission basis. The contract was given to Messrs. Dalgety,
Cleve and Hamill on June 21, at a two per cent premium on an estimated cost of
£73,458. :

Three months later, De Pass Brothers and Co. contracted to import five
locomotives, 22 carriages, 60 goods wagons, and 16 other vehicles, priced in
England at £42621.

The Trustees requested the Board of Trade to appoint an Inspecting
Officer to supervise the contracts in England. Captain Douglas Galton, R.E.,
was selected in October, 1856, but relinquished the office in December, when
Mr. Isambard Kingdom Brunel took over, continuing until his death in Sept-
ember, 1859.

Contracts for excavations, embankments, ballasting, and fencing were either
resumed with the original operators, or new agreements made. ~ By November,
1856, commitments for the line totalled over £300,000.

Progress of work both at home and abroad proceeded slowly. Trouble and
delay arose from failure of contractors to complete their obligations. Difficulty
was experienced in making a path for the permanent way across the present
West Melbourne swamp area (into which Moonee Ponds Creek flowed), from
near the present Dudley Street, North Melbourne, to beyond Batman’s Lagoon
and Dirty Gully, about one and a half miles west from Spencer Street. The
lagoon was filled in many years later. Excavations from Spencer Street to the
Salt Water (now Maribyrnong) River totalled 164,000 cubic yards, the spoil
being used for building embankments. Foundations for the bridge over the river
required 600 piles driven to a depth of 60 feet. From the river towards Foots-
cray, the line was carried on a wooden viaduct 1,150 feet long. This structure
was dismantled later and an earth embankment built.

The lapse of time from sending orders to England, placing the orders with
manufacturers there, the construction, inspection and shipment of materials,
and ultimate arrival at Melbourne, added to local delay. Fifteen months appears
to have been an average period for delivery of even the commonest articles.
Some of the ships carrying railway plant were lost at sea without trace, which,
of course, necessitated repeating the order. Mailing procedure to overseas
countries in early years involved sending duplicates of letters, orders and plans
by the following mail ship, which usually departed one month later than the
original, and instances occurred of three years elapsing before material arrived.

The Trustees of the Melbourne, Mount Alexander, and Murray River
Railway were considered to hold office only until the first Parliament elected a
Commission to control the construction and working of Government Rail-
ways. This was expected to be done as soon as possible after Parliament as-
sembled in November, 1856. But whatever the new Legislature may have
planned, two changes of Ministry in March and April, 1857, shelved prospects
of an immediate decision and action for the construction of country lines. Work
continued, however, on the Williamstown railway.
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By June, 1857, the Geelong and Melbourne Railway Co. had a service running
to Greenwich, a private village area of 90 acres between Melbourne Road and
the River Yarra, now part of Newport. On October 3, their line having been
connected to the Government line at Geelong Junction (now Newport), the
Geelong trains ran to Williamstown. One, John Harvey, was posted as Station-
master at the Government temporary station near Williamstown Pier. He was,
in all probability, the first traffic man appointed to the Victorian Railways.

Work proceeded slowly on the remainder of the line. Thick reefs of blue-
stone close to the surface constituted an additional factor of delay. Towards
the close of 1857, materials and equipment began to arrive from England. Rails,
bridges, carriages, wagons, locomotives and machinery came in, and by June,
1858, most of the plant ordered had been landed, after which construction was
accelerated.

On September 16, 1858, the Department’s first passenger engine—No. 1—
made a trial trip from Williamstown to Saltwater River. The bridge here was
completed in December and tested on January 7, 1859. Two engines, each
hauling six wagons loaded with iron rail chairs, were used for the test, which
was entirely satisfactory.

Saltwater
" River
Bridge,
1858




This bridge consisted of three iron tubular girders each 216 feet long and 14
feet 6 inches high, making a total weight of 511 tons, with a single span of 200
feet—the longest as yet on any railway bridge in Victoria. The deck was 37
feet wide and 25 feet above water level. The cost of the whole structure, includ-
ing foundations and abutments, was £90,000.

The line was officially opened on January 13, 1859—the first Victorian Govern-

ment Railway.

Principal contractors for the Melbourne and Williamstown railway were :

HOPE & McKENZIE

PORTER & ROBERTSON
EVANS, MERRY & CO.
MUSSON & BOURNE

J. & N. CAMPBELL J&
WILLIAM TANDLE

WILLIAM LIDDLE McKAY
KERR, HODGSON & BILLINGS
A. K. SMITH :
DAVID BAILLIE

PIERCE & DALZIELL

GEORGE HOLMES & CO.

s »

CRAGG, DALE & ROSS
PETO, BRASSEY and BETTS,

Stone breakwater at Williamstown.
Breakwater pier, Williamstown, £20,679.
Railway pier, Williamstown.

Earthworks, ballasting and laying permanent way,
Melbourne to Williamstown.

Fencing line.

Building of Williamstown station, £12,064.

Sheds at Williamstown, £2,874.

Workshops, Williamstown, £6,789.

Station and sheds at Batman’s Hill, Spencer Street.
Engine sheds, Williamstown, £5,395.

Abutments and foundations for Saltwater River bridge,
£31,737.
Erection of Saltwater River bridge, £30,331.

Foundations and erection, Stony Creek bridge, £14,580
Bridge at Dudley Street, £3,877.

Viaduct from Saltwater River bridge, £18,826,
Ironwork for Stony Creek bridge (96 tons) £2,034.

ENGLAND
WILLIAM FAIRBAIRN & SONS, lronwork for Saltwater River bridge (511 tons), £11,820,
ENGLAND
The total cost of the Williamstown line at the time of opening amounted to £697,000, comprising:
Earthworks £106,000
Permanent way ... 108,000
Bridges 123,000
Stations and sheds 145,000
Williamstown piers 113,000
Rolling stock . 68,000
Other items 34,000
£697,000

Of this expenditure, £94,000 was charged to the construction of the main
line to the River Murray, reducing the cost of the Willlamstown railway to

£603,000.

During the course of construction in 1857, 27 yards of ** De Bergue’s Patent

’y

Permanent Way

were laid down near Geelong Junction. This was done at the

request of John Cairns, Melbourne agent for the patentee, without cost or
liability to the Government. This type of permanent way consisted of cast iron
cellular blocks, 18” x 16” x 4", laid longitudinally, to which cross members were
fixed as spacers, and overall a clamping device for holding the rails by means of
slotted bolts. The section was removed in 1861, as being unsuitable for railway
requirements,



Sir Henry Barkly

CHAPTER FOUR

MAIN TRUNK RAILWAYS AUTHORIZED

Construction of Government trunk lines authorized ; Board of Land and Works formed ; Financing
the works ; Contracts allotted ; The works commenced

In fulfilment of the third Railway Committee’s recommendations to the Leg-
islative Council on March 19, 1856, the Trustees of the Melbourne, Mount
Alexander and Murray River Railway prepared all essential information re-
lating to proposed trunk lines for the guidance of the first Parliament when it
assembled in November, 1856,

On January 21, 1857, Captain Clarke submitted the following proposals to
the Legislative Assembly :

That it was advisable to proceed at once with the construction of lines from Melbourne to Sandhurst
and Geelong to Ballarat. During the year £1,000,000 should be spent on the Sandhurst line, giving
employment to 3,400 men, and £500,000 on the Ballarat line, employing 1,600 men. Construction
should be financed by a loan at 6 per cent interest.

A Railway Committee (the fourth) of 15 members of the Assembly, with Cap-
tain Clarke as chairman, was elected to inquire and report on the proposals.
The committee commenced taking evidence on February 5, but two changes
of the Ministry within one month delayed proceedings for two months.
Engineers and merchants, contractors and bankers, presented themselves
before the committee, and to 4,069 questions of varying degrees of expertness
and inanity gave 4,069 answers of like quality.

Although the subject had been fully examined and reported on by the three
previous Railway Committees in 1854, 1853, and 1856, the Legislature hes-
itated to commit the Colony to the policy of Government ownership of a public
utility — a policy to which British communities were averse. In addition,
the very important matter of finding several millions of money to construct main
railways was a problem for which the authorities had no easy solution. The
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Government was reluctant to accept responsibility, even though official reports
favoured the principle of public ownership, and the colonists were impatiently
waiting for somebody to do something.

By its report, dated August 11, 1857, this fourth committee confirmed the
1 recommendations of the previous commissions in all aspects. Features of the
report included the recommendation that the proposed lines be of substantial
construction, with double tracks, and capable of working a large traffic volume
at an average speed of not less than 20 miles an hour. Further, that on com-
pletion of construction, the management and working of the railways ought
not to remain in the hands of the Government.

i In a significant comment, the committee gave a reminder that the effects
of providing railway communication should not be measured exclusively by
the commercial value of the undertaking. The same beneficial results which
followed in other countries could be expected in Victoria.

| The report was submitted to Parliament in September, 1857, together with
a request that a loan of £8,000,000 be raised for railway construction. Without
delay, the whole scheme was approved, and the following series of Railways
Acts was passed on November 24, 1857 :

Spencer Street Station,
about 1863, showing
station as

originally built
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wasted no time.

ACT No. 3| : Provided for the establishment of a Board of Land and Works consisting of three to
five members. The functions of the Board included the letting of all contracts for public works.
(The Board, in effect, co-ordinated the offices of the Commissioner of Public Works and the Sur-
veyor-General or Commissioner of Crown Lands and Survey and also abolished the office of Commis-
sioner of Roads and Bridges.  The two first-named offices had been abolished by the Governor's
decree dated April 28, 1857, when a President of a Board of Land and Works was appointed. Act No.
31 gave covering approval for the establishment of the Board and defined its duties.)

ACT. No. 35: Authorized the Government to construct main trunk lines of railway from Mel-
bourne to the River Murray and from Geelong to Ballarat.

ACT No. 36 : Authorized the Government to raise £8,000,000 for the construction of the trunk lines,
and to repay expenditure on the Melbourne to Williamstown Railway. The money was to be obtained
by the issue of debentures bearing interest at 6 per cent and redeemable in 25 years : £7,000,000 to
be allotted to London financiers in £100 bonds, and £1,000,000 to the Melbourne market in £10 bonds.
ACT No. 38 : Authorized the construction of railways, and defined the powers and duties of the
Board of Land and Works in the construction of railways.

ACT No. 40 : Provided for the supervision of railways, whereby the Board of Land and Works was
empowered to inspect, approve of, and exercise supervision over all railways, including those of private
companies.

Having thus decided, after three years, on a definite action the Government
On December 8, 1857, the Board of Land and Works invited
tenders for constructing the lines, either as a whole or in sections, as under :

MELBOURNE AND MURRAY RIVER RAILWAY (from Footscray Junction)

CONTRACT M. Ch. CONTRACT M. Ch.
|. Keilor Plains 17.60 V1. Porcupine 7.10
2. Sunbury 522 12. Big Hill 3.65
3. Bolinda 8.78 13. Sandhurst 4.56
4. Gisborne 5.42 14. Bendigo Creek 8.00
5. Black Forest 5.61 I5. Campaspie Plains 31.00
6. Woodend 8.10 16, Echuca 17.58
7. Kyneton and Malmsbury t0.43 17. Melbourne to Sandhurst 97.07
8. Taradale 2.15 18. Sandhurst to River Murray 56.58
9. Elphinstone and Forest Creek 6.65 19. Melbourne to River Murray at
10. Castlemaine and Harcourt 10.49 Echuca [53.65
GEELONG AND BALLARAT RAILWAY (from Cowie’s Creek Junction)
Contract M. Ch. Contract M. Ch.
20. Moorabool 8.20 24. Burnt Bridge 3.50
2|. Lethbridge 8.05 25. Warrenheip 9.30
22. Meredith 12.05 26. Ballarat 4.37
23. Stony Rises 7.10  27. Geelong to Ballarat 52.77
GENERAL CONTRACT
28. Melbourne to River Murray and Geelong to Ballarat 206.62

On March 29, 1858, at the Government offices, Mr. Charles Gavan Dufly,
President of the Board of Land and Works, opened the tenders in the presence
of Sir Henry Barkly, the Executive Council, contractors, and press representatives.
One hundred and thirty-three separate quotations were submitted by :

PETTIT, SCITHERS & Co.
MUNGO PARK SMITH & Co.
EVANS, MERRY & Co.
PORTER & ROBERTSON

JOHN BOURNE
JOHN MUSSON

ROBERT RUSSELL & Co.
W. C. CORNISH & Co.

ALEXANDER ROSS
RANDLE & HOLMES
YOUNG & Co.

& Co.
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